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SPONSOR:  Rep. Bolden & Sen. Walsh
Reps. Bennett, Brady, Dukes, Spiegelman; Sens. 
Delcollo, Hansen, Pettyjohn, Sokola

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
149th GENERAL ASSEMBLY

HOUSE BILL NO. 462

AN ACT TO AMEND TITLE 24 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO THE BOARD OF OCCUPATIONAL 
THERAPY PRACTICE.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE:

1 Section 1. Amend § 2001, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

2 insertions as shown by underline as follows: 

3 Subchapter I. Board Of of Occupational Therapy Practice.

4 § 2001. Objectives.

5 (a) The primary objective of the Board of Occupational Therapy Practice, to which all other objectives and 

6 purposes are secondary, is to protect the general public, specifically those persons who are the direct recipients of services 

7 regulated by this chapter, from unsafe practices and from occupational practices which tend to reduce competition or fix the 

8 price of services rendered.

9 (b) The secondary objectives of the Board are to maintain minimum standards of practitioner licensee competency 

10 and to maintain certain standards in the delivery of services to the public. In meeting its objectives, the Board shall do all of 

11 the following:

12 (1) develop Develop standards assuring professional competence; competence.

13 (2) shall monitor Monitor complaints brought against practitioners licensees regulated by the Board; Board.

14 (3) shall adjudicate Adjudicate at formal hearings; hearings.

15 (4) shall promulgate Promulgate rules and regulations; and regulations.

16 (5) shall impose Impose sanctions where necessary against practitioners licensees.

17 (c) Nothing in this chapter shall be deemed is a direct or indirect commitment by the General Assembly to a 

18 present or future requirement that insurers or other third parties must offer or provide coverage for the services of 

19 practitioners licensed under this chapter licensees.

20 Section 2. Amend § 2002, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

21 insertions as shown by underline as follows and by redesignating accordingly:
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22 § 2002. Definitions.

23 The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings ascribed to them 

24 under this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning As used in this chapter:

25 (1) “Applicant” means an individual who applies to be licensed under this chapter.

26 (1) "Board" shall mean means the State Board of Occupational Therapy Practice established in this chapter.

27 (2) "Distant site" means a site at which a health-care provider legally allowed to practice in the this State is 

28 located while providing health-care services by means of telemedicine or telehealth.

29 (3) “Division” means the Division of Professional Regulation.

30 (3) "Excessive use or abuse of drugs or alcohol" or “excessively uses or abuses drugs or alcohol” shall mean 

31 means any use of narcotics, controlled substances substances, or illegal drugs without a prescription from a licensed 

32 physician, or the abuse of alcoholic beverage such that it impairs a person's ability to perform the work of an 

33 occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant.

34 (4) “Licensee” means an individual licensed under this chapter to practice occupational therapy services.

35 (4) "Occupational therapist" shall mean means a person who is licensed to practice occupational therapy 

36 pursuant to under this chapter and who offers such services to the public under any title incorporating the words 

37 "occupational therapy," "occupational therapist" therapist,” or any similar title or description of occupational therapy 

38 services.

39 (5) "Occupational therapy assistant" shall mean means a person licensed to assist in the practice of 

40 occupational therapy, therapy under the supervision of an occupational therapist.

41 (6)a. "Occupational therapy services" shall mean, but are not limited to includes any of the following:

42 a. 1. The assessment, treatment treatment, and education of or consultation with the an individual, 

43 family family, or other persons; or persons.

44 b. 2. Interventions directed toward developing, improving improving, or restoring daily living skills, 

45 work readiness or work performance, play skills skills, or leisure capacities, capacities, or enhancing 

46 educational performance skills; or skills.

47 c. 3. Providing for the development, improvement improvement, or restoration of sensorimotor, 

48 oralmotor, perceptual or neuromuscular functioning, or emotional, motivational, cognitive cognitive, or 

49 psychosocial components of performance.

50 b. These services “Occupational therapy services” or “practice of occupational therapy” may require 

51 assessment of the need for use of interventions such as the design, development, adaptation, application 

52 application, or training in the use of assistive technology devices; the design, fabrication fabrication, or application 

53 of rehabilitative technology such as selected orthotic devices; training in the use of assistive technology, orthotic 
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54 or prosthetic devices; the application of thermal agent modalities, including, but not limited to, including paraffin, 

55 hot and cold packs packs, and fluido therapy, as an adjunct to, or in preparation for, purposeful activity; the use of 

56 ergonomic principles; the adaptation of environments and processes to enhance functional performance; or the 

57 promotion of health and wellness.

58 c. “Occupational therapy services” or “practice of occupational therapy” Services may be provided 

59 through the use of telemedicine in a manner deemed appropriate by regulation. Services also regulation and may 

60 include participation in telehealth as further defined in regulation.

61 (7) "Originating site" means a site in Delaware at which a patient is located at the time health-care services 

62 are provided to him or her the patient by means of telemedicine or telehealth, unless the term is otherwise defined with 

63 respect to the provision in which it is used; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of law, insurers 

64 and providers may agree to alternative siting arrangements deemed appropriate by the parties.

65 (8) "Person" shall mean means a corporation, company, association association, and or partnership, as well as 

66 or an individual.

67 (9) "Practice of occupational therapy" shall mean means the use of goal-directed activities with individuals 

68 who are limited by physical limitations due to injury or illness, psychiatric and emotional disorders, developmental or 

69 learning disabilities, poverty and cultural differences differences, or the aging process, in order to maximize 

70 independence, prevent disability disability, and maintain health.

71 (10) "Store and forward transfer" means the transmission of a patient's medical information either to or from 

72 an originating site or to or from the provider at the distant site, but does not require the patient being present nor must it 

73 or that the transmission be in real time.

74 (11) "Substantially related" means the nature of the criminal conduct, conduct for which the a person was 

75 convicted, convicted has a direct bearing on the fitness or ability to perform 1 or more of the duties or responsibilities 

76 necessarily related to the practice of occupational therapy.

77 (12) "Supervision" shall mean means the interactive process between the a licensed occupational therapist 

78 and the an occupational therapy assistant. It shall be assistant, and requires more than a paper review or cosignature. 

79 The “Supervision” means that the supervising occupational therapist is responsible for insuring the extent, kind kind, 

80 and quality of the services rendered by the occupational therapy assistant that the occupational therapy assistant 

81 renders.

82 (13) "Telehealth" means the use of information and communications technologies consisting of telephones, 

83 remote patient monitoring devices devices, or other electronic means which support clinical health care, provider 

84 consultation, patient and professional health-related education, public health, health administration, and other services 

85 as described in regulation.
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86 (14) "Telemedicine" means a form of telehealth which is the delivery of clinical health-care services by 

87 means of real time 2-way audio, visual, or other telecommunications or electronic communications, including the 

88 application of secure video conferencing or store and forward transfer technology to provide or support health-care 

89 delivery, which facilitate the assessment, diagnosis, consultation, treatment, education, care management management, 

90 and self-management of a patient's health care by a licensee practicing within his or her the licensee’s scope of practice 

91 as would be practiced in-person with a patient and with other restrictions as defined in regulation.

92 Section 3. Amend § 2003, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

93 insertions as shown by underline as follows and by redesignating accordingly:

94 § 2003. Board of Occupational Therapy Practice; appointments; qualifications; term; vacancies; suspension or 

95 removal; unexcused absences; compensation.

96 (a) There is created a State The Board of Occupational Therapy Practice which shall administer administers and 

97 enforce enforces this chapter.

98 (b) The Board shall consist consists of 5 members appointed by the Governor, who are residents of this State and 

99 appointed by the Governor as follows: 

100 (1) Three professional members, 2 of whom shall be occupational therapists licensed under this chapter, Two 

101 occupational therapists.

102 (2) 1 may be a licensed occupational therapy assistant, and One occupational therapy assistant. 

103 (3) 2 public members. The public members shall Two public members, who must meet all of the following 

104 qualifications:

105 a. not Not be, nor ever have been, an occupational therapists therapist or occupational therapy assistants, 

106 assistant. 

107 b. nor members Not be, nor ever have been, a member of the immediate family of an occupational 

108 therapist or occupational therapy assistant; assistant.

109 c. shall not have been Not be, nor ever have been employed by an occupational therapist or occupational 

110 therapy assistant; assistant.

111 d. shall not Not have a material interest in the providing of goods and services to an occupational 

112 therapists therapist or occupational therapy assistants; assistant. 

113 e. nor Not have been engaged in an activity directly related to occupational therapy. 

114 The public members shall be accessible to inquiries, comments and suggestions from the general public.

115 (c) Except as provided in subsection (d) of this section, each member shall serve a term of 3 years, and may 

116 succeed himself or herself for 1 additional term; provided however, that where a member was initially appointed to fill a 

117 vacancy, such member may succeed himself or herself for only 1 additional full term. Any person appointed to fill a 
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118 vacancy on the Board shall hold office for the remainder of the unexpired term of the former member. Each term of office 

119 shall expire on the date specified in the appointment; however, the Board member shall remain eligible to participate in 

120 Board proceedings unless and until replaced by the Governor. Persons who are members of the Board on June 17, 1998, 

121 shall complete their terms. Each member is appointed for a term of 3 years. A member may succeed the member’s term for 

122 1 additional term, and may not be appointed again until a period of 3 years has expired.

123 (d) A person who has never served on the Board may be appointed to the Board for 2 consecutive terms; but no 

124 such person shall thereafter be eligible for 2 consecutive appointments. No person, who has been twice appointed to the 

125 Board or who has served on the Board for 6 years within any 9-year period, shall again be appointed to the Board until an 

126 interim period of at least 1 year has expired since such person last served.

127 (e) Any act or vote by a person member appointed in violation of this section shall be is invalid. An amendment or 

128 revision of this chapter is not sufficient cause for any appointment or attempted appointment in violation of subsection (d) 

129 of this section, unless such an the amendment or revision amends this section to permit such an the appointment.

130 (f)(1) A member of the Board shall be suspended or removed by the Governor for misfeasance, nonfeasance or 

131 malfeasance. The Governor may remove a member for gross inefficiency, neglect of duty, malfeasance, misfeasance, or 

132 nonfeasance in office. If a member is absent from 3 consecutive meetings or attends less than 50% of meetings in a 12 

133 month period, the member is in neglect of duty and may be assumed to have resigned, and the Governor may accept the 

134 member’s resignation. 

135 (2) A member subject to disciplinary hearing shall be is disqualified from Board business until the charge is 

136 adjudicated or the matter is otherwise concluded. A Board member may appeal any suspension or removal to the 

137 Superior Court.

138 (g) No A member of the Board, while serving on the Board, shall may not hold elective office in any professional 

139 association of occupational therapists or occupational therapy assistants; this includes a prohibition against assistants, 

140 including serving as head of the professional association's Political Action Committee (PAC).

141 (h) The law regulating the conduct of officers and employees of the State under Chapter 58 of Title 29 shall apply 

142 applies to all members of the Board.

143 (i) Any member who is absent without adequate reason for 3 consecutive meetings, or fails to attend at least 1/2 of 

144 all regular business meetings during any calendar year, shall be guilty of neglect of duty.

145 (j) Each member of the Board shall must be reimbursed for all expenses involved in each meeting, including 

146 travel, and in addition shall must receive compensation per meeting attended in an amount determined by the Division in 

147 accordance with Del. Const. art. III, § 9.
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148 Section 4. Amend § 2004, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

149 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

150 § 2004. Organization; meetings; officers; quorum.

151 (a) The Board shall hold regularly scheduled business meetings at least once in each quarter of a calendar year, 

152 and at such times as the chair deems necessary; or necessary and at the request of a majority of the Board members.

153 (b) The Board shall elect annually from its members a chair, vice-chair vice-chair, and secretary. Each officer 

154 shall serve for 1 year, and shall may not succeed himself or herself the officer’s term for more than 2 consecutive terms. In 

155 the event of a vacancy in 1 of the offices, the Board shall elect a replacement shall be elected at the next Board meeting.

156 (c) A majority of the members shall constitute constitutes a quorum for the purpose of transacting business. No 

157 The Board may not take disciplinary action shall be taken without the affirmative vote of at least 3 members of the Board.

158 (d) Minutes of all meetings shall must be recorded, and copies shall be maintained by the Division of Professional 

159 Regulation shall maintain copies of meeting minutes. At any hearing where evidence is presented, a record must be made 

160 from which a verbatim transcript can be prepared shall be made. The person requesting the transcript must pay for the 

161 expense of preparing any the transcript shall be incurred by the person requesting it.

162 Section 5. Amend § 2005, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

163 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

164 § 2005. Records.

165 The Division of Professional Regulation shall keep a register of all approved applications for license as an 

166 occupational therapist and occupational therapy assistant, and complete records relating to meetings of the Board, 

167 examinations, rosters, changes changes, and additions to the Board's rules and regulations, complaints, hearings hearings, 

168 and such any other matters as that the Board shall determine determines. Such The records shall be are prima facie evidence 

169 of the Board’s proceedings of the Board.

170 Section 6. Amend § 2006, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

171 insertions as shown by underline and by redesignating accordingly as follows:

172 § 2006. Powers and duties.

173 (a) The Board of Occupational Therapy Practice shall have authority to may do all of the following:

174 (1) Formulate rules and regulations, with appropriate notice to those affected; all rules affected. Rules and 

175 regulations shall must be promulgated in accordance with the procedures specified in the Administrative Procedures 

176 Act [Chapter 101 of Title 29] of this State. Each rule or regulation shall must implement or clarify a specific section of 

177 this chapter; chapter.

178 (2) Designate the application form to be used by all applicants, applicants and to process all applications; 

179 applications.
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180 (3) Designate the written, standardized examination as approved by the National Board for Certification in 

181 Occupational Therapy, Inc., or its successor, to be taken by all persons applying for licensure; applicants that an 

182 applicant must pass to qualify for licensure. An applicant who qualify qualifies for licensure by reciprocity shall must 

183 have achieved a passing score on the national examination; examination.

184 (4) The Board shall adopt the administration, grading procedures and passing score of the National Board for 

185 Certification in Occupational Therapy, Inc., or a comparable alternative national or regional examination, if a national 

186 examination is not available;

187 (5) Establish minimum education, training training, and experience requirements for licensure as 

188 occupational therapists and occupational therapy assistants; licensure.

189 (6) Evaluate the an applicant’s credentials of all persons applying for a license to practice occupational 

190 therapy and to practice as occupational therapy assistants in Delaware, in order to determine whether such persons 

191 meet the applicant meets the qualifications for licensing set forth in under this chapter.

192 (7) Grant licenses to, and renew licenses of, all persons who meet an applicant or licensee who meets the 

193 qualifications for licensure and/or or renewal of licenses; licenses.

194 (8) Establish by rule and regulation continuing education standards required for license renewal; renewal.

195 (9) Evaluate certified records to determine whether an applicant for licensure, who has been previously 

196 licensed, certified certified, or registered in another jurisdiction to practice occupational therapy or to act as an 

197 occupational therapy assistant, assistant has engaged in any act or offense that would be grounds for disciplinary action 

198 under this chapter chapter, and whether there are any disciplinary proceedings or unresolved complaints are pending 

199 against such applicants for such acts or offenses; the applicant for the act or offense.

200 (10) Refer all complaints from licensees and the public concerning licensed occupational therapists and 

201 occupational therapy assistants, or concerning practices of the Board or of the profession, licensees, the Board’s 

202 practices, or the profession to the Division of Professional Regulation for investigation pursuant to under § 8735 of 

203 Title 29; 29, and assign a member of the Board member to assist the Division in an advisory capacity with the 

204 investigation of the technical aspects of the complaint; complaint. A Board member who is assigned to assist the 

205 Division under this paragraph may not participate in deliberations on the complaint.

206 (11) Conduct hearings and issue orders in accordance with procedures established pursuant to under this 

207 chapter and chapter, Chapter 101 of Title 29, and § 8735 of Title 29. Where such provisions conflict with this chapter, 

208 this chapter shall govern. The Board shall determine whether or not an occupational therapist or occupational therapy 

209 assistant shall be a licensee is subject to a disciplinary hearing, hearing and, if so, shall conduct such the hearing in 

210 accordance with this chapter and the Administrative Procedures Act [Chapter 101 of Title 29]; 29].
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211 (12) Where it has been determined after a disciplinary hearing, If the Board determines after a disciplinary 

212 hearing that penalties or sanctions should be imposed, to designate and impose the appropriate sanction or penalty after 

213 time for appeal has lapsed.

214 (b) The Board of Occupational Therapy shall promulgate regulations specifically identifying those crimes which 

215 are substantially related to the practice of occupational therapy.

216 (4) The Board shall adopt the administration, grading procedures, and passing score of the National Board for 

217 Certification in Occupational Therapy, Inc., or its successor, or a comparable alternative national or regional examination, if 

218 a national examination is not available.

219 Section 7. Amend § 2007, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

220 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

221 Subchapter II. License.

222 § 2007. License required.

223 (a) No A person shall may not engage in the practice of occupational therapy or hold himself or herself the person 

224 out to the public in this State as being qualified to practice as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant; 

225 assistant, or use in connection with the person's name, or otherwise assume or use, any title or description conveying or 

226 tending to convey the impression that such the person is qualified to practice occupational therapy, unless such the person 

227 has been duly licensed under this chapter.

228 (b) Whenever If a license to practice as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant in this state 

229 State has expired or been suspended or revoked, it shall be is unlawful for the person holding the expired, suspended, or 

230 revoked license to practice occupational therapy in this State.

231 (c) It shall be is unlawful for any person, or for any a person or business entity, its or a person’s or business 

232 entity’s employees, agents agents, or representatives to use in connection with his, her or it’s the person’s or business 

233 entity’s name or business activity the words occupational therapist, occupational therapist registered, licensed occupational 

234 therapist, occupational therapy assistant, licensed occupational therapy assistant, assistant; the letters of OT, OT/L, OTR, 

235 OTR/L, OTA, COTA, COTA/L COTA/L; or any other words, letters, abbreviations abbreviations, or insignia indicating or 

236 implying directly or indirectly that occupational therapy services are rendered rendered, unless such the person or business 

237 entity is licensed under this chapter.

238 Section 8. Amend § 2008, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

239 insertions as shown by underline as follows:
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240 § 2008. Qualifications of applicant; report to Attorney General; judicial review.

241 (a) An applicant who is applying for licensure as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant under 

242 this chapter shall submit evidence, verified by oath and satisfactory to the Board, that such person the applicant meets all of 

243 the following qualifications:

244 (1) Has successfully completed the academic requirements of an educational program in occupational therapy 

245 recognized by the Board; and that the Board recognizes. The occupational therapy education program and occupational 

246 therapist assistant educational program must be accredited by the Accreditation Council for Occupational Therapy 

247 Education.

248 a. The occupational therapy educational program shall be accredited by the Accreditation Council for 

249 Occupational Therapy Education (ACOTE); 

250 b. The occupational therapy assistant educational program shall be accredited by the Accreditation 

251 Council for Occupational Therapy Education (ACOTE);

252 (2) Has successfully completed a period of supervised field work experience arranged by the recognized 

253 educational institution where the person applicant has met the academic requirements, or by the nationally recognized 

254 professional association; association.

255 (3) Has achieved the passing score on the written standardized examination developed by the National Board 

256 for Certification in Occupational Therapy, Inc., or its successor; successor.

257 (4)a. Shall not have Has not been the recipient of any administrative penalties regarding that person's the 

258 applicant’s practice of occupational therapy, including but not limited to fines, fines; formal reprimands, reprimands; 

259 license suspensions or revocation (except revocation, except for license revocations for nonpayment of license renewal 

260 fees), fees; or probationary limitations and/or limitations.

261 b. has Has not entered into any "consent agreements" which contain conditions placed by a Board on that 

262 person's applicant’s professional conduct and practice, including any voluntary surrender of a license. 

263 c. The Board may determine, after a hearing, whether such an administrative penalty included in 

264 paragraph (4)a. and (4)b. of this section is grounds to deny licensure; licensure.

265 (5) Shall not have any Has no impairment related to drugs, alcohol alcohol, or a finding of mental 

266 incompetence by a physician that would limit the applicant's ability to undertake the practice of occupational therapy in 

267 a manner consistent with the safety of the public; public.

268 (6) Shall Does not have a criminal conviction record, nor record or pending criminal charge relating to an 

269 offense, the circumstances of which substantially relate to the practice of occupational therapy. Applicants who have 

270 criminal conviction records or pending criminal charges shall require request that the appropriate authorities to provide 

271 information about the record or charge directly to the Board in sufficient specificity to enable the Board to make a 
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272 determination whether the record or charge is substantially related to the practice of occupational therapy. However, 

273 The Board may waive this paragraph (a)(6) of this section if, after a hearing or review of documentation demonstrating 

274 that the applicant meets the specified criteria for a waiver, the Board, by an affirmative vote of a majority of the 

275 quorum, may waive this paragraph (a)(6),if quorum, it finds all of the following:

276 a. For waiver of a felony conviction, more than 5 years have elapsed since the date of the conviction. At 

277 the time of the application the applicant may not be incarcerated, on work release, on probation, on parole parole, 

278 or serving any part of a suspended sentence sentence, and must be in substantial compliance with all court orders 

279 pertaining to fines, restitution restitution, and community service.

280 b. For waiver of a misdemeanor conviction or violation, at the time of the application the applicant may 

281 must not be incarcerated, on work release, on probation, on parole parole, or serving any part of a suspended 

282 sentence sentence, and must be in substantial compliance with all court orders pertaining to fines, restitution 

283 restitution, and community service.

284 c. The applicant is capable of practicing occupational therapy in a competent and professional manner.

285 d. The granting of Granting the waiver will not endanger the public health, safety or welfare; safety, or 

286 welfare.

287 (7) Shall not have Has not been convicted of a felony sexual offense; offense.

288 (8)a. Has submitted, at the applicant's expense, fingerprints and other necessary information in order to obtain 

289 all of the following:

290 a. 1. A report of the applicant's entire criminal history record from the State Bureau of Identification 

291 or a statement from the State Bureau of Identification that the State Central Repository contains no such 

292 information criminal history record relating to that person; applicant.

293 b. 2. A report of the applicant's entire federal criminal history record pursuant to under the Federal 

294 Bureau of Investigation appropriation of Title II of Public Law 92-544 (28 U.S.C. § 534). The State Bureau of 

295 Identification shall be is the intermediary for purposes of this section and the Board of Occupational Therapy 

296 Practice shall be is the screening point for the receipt of said the federal criminal history records; records.

297 c. b. An applicant may not be licensed to practice occupational therapy until the applicant's criminal 

298 history reports have been produced. An The Board may not license an applicant whose record shows a prior 

299 criminal conviction may not be licensed by the Board unless a waiver is granted pursuant to under paragraph (a)(6) 

300 of this section.

301 (b) Where If the Board has found finds to its satisfaction that an application applicant has been intentionally 

302 fraudulent, or that false information has been intentionally supplied, fraudulent or intentionally supplied false information, 

303 it shall report its findings to the Attorney General for further action.
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304 (c) Where the application of a person has been refused or rejected and such If the Board refuses or rejects an 

305 application and the applicant feels believes that the Board has acted without justification; justification, has imposed higher 

306 or different standards for that applicant than for other applicants or licensees; licensees, or has in some other manner 

307 contributed to or caused the failure of such the application, the applicant may appeal to the Superior Court.

308 (d) All individuals licensed to practice occupational therapy in this State shall be required to Licensees must be 

309 fingerprinted by the State Bureau of Identification, at the licensee's expense, for the purposes of performing subsequent 

310 criminal background checks. Licensees shall submit by January 1, 2016, at the applicant's expense, fingerprints and other 

311 necessary information in order to obtain a criminal background check.

312 Section 9. Amend § 2009, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

313 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

314 § 2009. Applicability of chapter.

315 Nothing in this chapter shall may be construed as preventing or restricting the practice, services services, or 

316 activities of any of the following:

317 (1) Any A person registered or licensed in this State by any other law from engaging in the profession or 

318 occupation for which that person is licensed; licensed.

319 (2) Any A person pursuing a course of study leading to a degree or certificate in occupational therapy at an 

320 accredited or approved educational program if such activities and services constitute a part of a supervised course of 

321 study and if such a the person is designated by a title which clearly indicates that person's status as a student or trainee; 

322 trainee.

323 (3) Any A person fulfilling the supervised field work experience requirements of this chapter, if such 

324 activities and services constitute the requirements for licensure; or licensure.

325 (4) Any A visiting occupational therapist who teaches temporarily at an accredited or approved educational 

326 program, or who lectures or instructs participants at seminars sanctioned by the Delaware Occupational Therapy 

327 Association.

328 Section 10. Amend § 2010, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

329 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

330 § 2010. Foreign-trained Applicants.

331 In addition to the requirement requirements of § 2008 of this title, a foreign-trained applicant shall be is eligible 

332 for licensure as an occupational therapist or as an occupational therapy assistant after submitting to the Board satisfactory 

333 evidence of graduation from a school offering a program in occupational therapy or occupational therapy assistant which 

334 has been approved for the educational preparation of occupational therapists or occupational therapy assistants by the 
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335 appropriate accrediting agency recognized by the National Board for Certification in Occupational Therapy, Inc., or its 

336 successor.

337 Section 11. Amend § 2011, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

338 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

339 § 2011. Reciprocity.

340 Upon payment of the appropriate fee and submission and acceptance of a written application on forms provided by 

341 the Board, the Board shall grant a license to each applicant who shall present presents proof of current licensure in good 

342 standing in another state, the District of Columbia, or territory of the United States, whose standards for licensure are 

343 substantially similar to those of this State, States, and who meets all of the following criteria:

344 (1) The applicant's Has a license is in good standing as defined in § 2008(a)(4)-(6) of this title; and title.

345 (2) Has achieved the passing score on all parts of the written, standardized examination administered by the 

346 National Board for Certification in Occupational Therapy, Inc., or its successor.

347 Section 12. Amend § 2012, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

348 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

349 § 2012. Temporary license. [Repealed.] Duty to report unprofessional conduct; inability to practice.

350 (a) A licensee has a duty to report to the Division information that the licensee reasonably believes indicates that 

351 the licensee or another licensee has engaged in or is engaging in conduct that constitute grounds for disciplinary action 

352 under this chapter. A licensee shall report to the Board within 30 days of the occurrence of any of the following:

353 (1) A partial or full removal of the licensee’s or another licensee’s hospital privileges based on adverse events, 

354 unprofessional conduct, or competency issues.

355 (2) A disciplinary action taken by any regulatory agency against against the licensee or another licensee.

356 (3) A reasonably-substantiated incident involving violence, threat of violence, abuse, or neglect by the 

357 licensee or another licensee toward another person.

358 (b)(1) A licensee is subject to temporary or permanent license restriction, suspension, or revocation if the licensee 

359 is unable to practice the occupation with reasonable skill or safety to patients due to any of the following circumstances:

360 a. Mental illness or mental incompetence.

361 b. Physical illness, including deterioration due to aging or loss of motor skills.

362 c. Excessive use or abuse of drugs or alcohol.

363 (2) A license may be permanently restricted, suspended, or revoked after a hearing under § 2006(a)(11) of this 

364 title.
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365 (3) A license may be temporarily restricted, suspended, or revoked after a hearing under § 2006(a)(11) of this 

366 title or, if circumstances present an immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare, without a hearing and 

367 under the process established in § 2017(c) of this title.

368 Section 13. Amend § 2013, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

369 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

370 § 2013. Fees.

371 (a) The amount to be charged for each fee imposed under this chapter shall must approximate and reasonably 

372 reflect all costs necessary to defray the Board’s expenses of the Board, as well as and the Division’s proportional expenses 

373 incurred by the Division of Professional Regulation in its service on behalf of the Board.

374 (b) There shall be a A separate fee may be charged for each service or activity; activity, but no fee shall may be 

375 charged for a purpose not specified in this chapter. 

376 (c) The application fee shall must not be combined with any other fee or charge. 

377 (d) At the beginning of each licensure biennium, the Division of Professional Regulation, or any other state agency 

378 acting in its behalf, on the Division’s behalf shall compute, for each separate service or activity, the appropriate Board fees 

379 for the coming licensure biennium.

380 Section 14. Amend § 2014, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

381 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

382 § 2014. Issuance and renewal of licenses.

383 (a) The Board shall issue a license to each applicant, applicant who meets the requirements of and pays the fee 

384 under this chapter for licensure as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant and who pays the fee 

385 established under § 2013 of this title.

386 (b) Each license shall must be renewed biennially, in such a manner as is determined by the Division of 

387 Professional Regulation, and Division, upon payment of the appropriate fee and submission of a renewal form provided by 

388 the Division of Professional Regulation, Division, and proof that the licensee has met the continuing education 

389 requirements established by the Board.

390 (c) The Board, in its rules and regulations, shall determine the period of time within which a licensed occupational 

391 therapist or occupational therapy assistant licensee may still renew the occupational therapist's or occupational therapy 

392 assistant's license, notwithstanding the fact that such a license if the licensee has failed to renew on or before the renewal 

393 date.

394 (d) A licensee, upon written request, may be placed place the licensee’s license on inactive status. The renewal fee 

395 of the licensee shall to renew an inactive license must be prorated in accordance with the amount of time the licensee 
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396 license was inactive. The licensee may reenter practice upon written notification to the Board of the intent to do so and 

397 completion of continuing education as required in by the Board's rules and regulations.

398 Section 15. Amend § 2015, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

399 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

400 § 2015. Grounds for discipline.

401 (a) A practitioner licensed under this chapter shall be licensee is subject to disciplinary actions set forth in under § 

402 2017 of this title, title if, after a hearing, the Board finds that the occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant 

403 licensee has done any of the following:

404 (1) Has employed Employed or knowingly cooperated in fraud or material deception in order to acquire a 

405 license as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant; has assistant, impersonated another person 

406 holding a license or registration, or allowed another person to use the practitioner's licensee’s license, or aided or 

407 abetted a person not licensed as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant under this chapter to 

408 represent himself or herself the person as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant; assistant.

409 (2) Has been Been convicted of a crime that is substantially related to the practice of occupational therapy; a 

410 therapy. A copy of the record of conviction certified by the clerk of the court entering the conviction shall be is 

411 conclusive evidence therefor; of the conviction.

412 (3) Has excessively used or abused drugs either in the past 2 years or currently; excessive use or abuse of 

413 drugs shall mean any use of narcotics, controlled substances or illegal drugs without a prescription from a licensed 

414 physician, or the abuse of alcoholic beverage such that it impairs the practitioner's ability to perform the work of an 

415 occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant; Excessively used or abused drugs or alcohol in the previous 2 

416 years.

417 (4) Has engaged Engaged in an act of consumer fraud or deception; deception, engaged in the restraint of 

418 competition; competition, or participated in price-fixing activities; activities.

419 (5) Has violated Violated a lawful provision of this chapter, or any lawful chapter or a regulation established 

420 thereunder; under this chapter.

421 (6) Has had that practitioner's Had the licensee’s license, certification certification, or registration as an 

422 occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant suspended or revoked, or other disciplinary action taken by the 

423 appropriate licensing authority in another jurisdiction; provided however, that jurisdiction. 

424 a. For paragraph (a)(6) of this section to apply, the underlying grounds for such the action in another 

425 jurisdiction have been must be presented to the Board by certified record, and the Board has determined must 

426 determine that the facts found by the appropriate authority in the other jurisdiction constitute 1 or more of the acts 

427 defined in this chapter. 
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428 b. Every person licensed as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant in this State shall 

429 be A licensee is deemed to have given consent consented to the release of this the information under paragraph 

430 (a)(6)a. of this section by the Board of Occupational Therapy Practice or other comparable agencies agency in 

431 another jurisdiction and to waive waived all objections to the admissibility of previously adjudicated evidence of 

432 such the acts or offenses; on the record of the other jurisdiction. 

433 (7) Has failed Failed to notify the Board that the practitioner's licensee’s license, certification certification, or 

434 registration as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant in another state jurisdiction has been subject 

435 to discipline, or has been surrendered, suspended suspended, or revoked. A certified copy of the record of disciplinary 

436 action, surrender, suspension suspension, or revocation shall be is conclusive evidence thereof; thereof.

437 (8) While acting as a supervising occupational therapist, has failed to supervise and take reasonable steps to 

438 see that an occupational therapy assistants assistant and temporary licensees perform performs services responsibly, 

439 competently competently, and ethically, in accordance with rules and regulations established by that the Board 

440 established. Supervising A supervising occupational therapists shall be therapist is subject to disciplinary action for any 

441 acts or offenses which are an act or offense which is grounds for such disciplinary action when such acts or offenses 

442 are the act or offense is undertaken by the occupational therapy assistant or temporary licensee acting under the 

443 supervising occupational therapist's direction or control.

444 (b) Where a practitioner If a licensee fails to comply with the Board's request that the practitioner licensee attend a 

445 hearing, the Board may petition the Superior Court to order such the licensee’s attendance, and the said attendance. The 

446 Court or any judge assigned thereto shall have has the jurisdiction to issue such an order requiring the licensee to attend the 

447 hearing.

448 (c) Subject to this chapter and subchapter IV of Chapter 101 of Title 29, no license shall be restricted, suspended 

449 or revoked by the Board, and no practitioner's right to practice occupational therapy or to act as an occupational therapy 

450 assistant shall be limited by the Board until such practitioner has been given notice, and an opportunity to be heard, in 

451 accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act [Chapter 101 of Title 29].

452 Section 16. Amend § 2016, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

453 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

454 § 2016. Complaints.

455 (a) All complaints shall be received and investigated by the Division of Professional Regulation The Division shall 

456 receive and investigate a complaint in accordance with § 8735 of Title 29, and the Division shall be responsible for issuing 

457 issue a final written report at the conclusion of its investigation.

458 (b) When it is determined If the Board determines that an individual is engaging in the practice of occupational 

459 therapy or is using the title occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant and is not licensed under the laws of this 
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460 State this chapter, the Board shall issue a formal warning to the individual under this chapter. If the formal warning does 

461 not resolve the matter, the Board may apply to the Office of the Attorney General to issue a cease and desist order after 

462 formally warning the unlicensed practitioner in accordance with this chapter.

463 (c) Any complaints The Division shall investigate a complaint against a licensee involving allegations of 

464 unprofessional conduct or incompetence shall be investigated by the Division of Professional Regulation.

465 Section 17. Amend § 2017, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

466 insertions as shown by underline as follows and by redesignating accordingly:

467 § 2017. Disciplinary sanctions.

468 (a) The Board may impose any of the following sanctions, singly or in combination, when it finds that 1 or more 

469 of the conditions or violations set forth in under § 2015 of this title applies to a practitioner regulated by this chapter 

470 licensee:

471 (1) Issue a letter of reprimand.

472 (2) Censure a practitioner.

473 (3) Place a practitioner the licensee on probationary status, status and require the practitioner licensee to do 

474 any of the following:

475 a. Report regularly to the Board upon the matters which are the basis of the probation; probation.

476 b. Limit all practice and professional activities to those areas prescribed by that the Board prescribes.

477 (4) Suspend any practitioner's the licensee’s license.

478 (5) Revoke any practitioner's the licensee’s license.

479 (6) Impose a monetary penalty not to exceed $500 for each violation.

480 (b) The Board may withdraw or reduce conditions of probation when if it finds that the deficiencies which 

481 required such action have been the probation are remedied.

482 (c) In the event of If a formal or informal complaint concerning the activity of a licensee that presents a clear and 

483 immediate danger to the public health, safety safety, or welfare, the Board may temporarily suspend the person's licensee’s 

484 license, pending a hearing, upon the written order of the Secretary of State or the Secretary's designee, with the concurrence 

485 of the Board chair or the Board chair's designee. 

486 (1) An order temporarily suspending a license may must not be issued unless the person licensee or the 

487 person's licensee’s attorney received receives at least 24 hours' written or oral notice before the temporary suspension 

488 suspension, so that the person licensee or the person's licensee’s attorney may file a written response to the proposed 

489 suspension. 

490 (2) The decision as to whether to issue the temporary order of suspension will must be decided on the written 

491 submissions. 
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492 (3) An order of temporary suspension pending a hearing may remain in effect for no longer than 60 days from 

493 the date of the issuance of the order order, unless the temporarily suspended person licensee requests a continuance of 

494 the hearing date. If the temporarily suspended person requests a continuance, hearing, in which case the order of 

495 temporary suspension remains in effect until the hearing is convened and the Board renders a decision is rendered by 

496 the Board. 

497 (4) A person licensee whose license has been temporarily suspended pursuant to under this section may 

498 request an expedited hearing. The Upon the licensee’s timely request, the Board shall schedule the hearing on an 

499 expedited basis, provided that the Board receives the request within 5 calendar days from the date on which the person 

500 received notification of the decision to temporarily suspend the person's license A request is timely if the licensee 

501 provides it to the Board within 5 calendar days from the date that the licensee received notice of the temporary 

502 suspension..

503 (d) As a condition to reinstatement of a suspended license, license or removal from probationary status, the Board 

504 may impose such disciplinary or corrective measures as are authorized under this chapter.

505 (e) The Board shall permanently revoke the license to practice occupational therapy of a person licensee who is 

506 convicted of a felony sexual offense.

507 Section 18. Amend § 2018, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

508 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

509 § 2018. Hearing procedures.

510 (a) If a complaint alleging violation of § 2015 of this title is filed with the Board pursuant to under § 8735 of Title 

511 29, alleging violation of § 2015 of this title, the Board shall set a time and place to conduct a hearing on the complaint. 

512 Notice of the hearing shall must be given and the hearing must be conducted in accordance with the Administrative 

513 Procedures Act, Chapter 101 of Title 29.

514 (b) All hearings shall be are informal without use of rules of evidence. If the Board finds, by a majority vote of all 

515 members, that the complaint has merit, the Board shall take such action permitted under this chapter as it deems necessary. 

516 The Board's decision shall must be in writing and shall include it’s the Board’s reasons for such the decision. The Board's 

517 decision shall must be mailed immediately to the practitioner licensee.

518 (c) Where the practitioner If the licensee is in disagreement with the Board’s action of the Board, the practitioner 

519 licensee may appeal the Board's decision to the Superior Court within 30 days of service, or of service of the Board’s 

520 decision or the postmarked date of the copy of the decision mailed to the practitioner licensee. Upon such appeal an appeal, 

521 the Court shall hear the evidence on the record. Stays shall be granted The Court may grant a stay in accordance with § 

522 10144 of Title 29.
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523 Section 19. Amend § 2019, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

524 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

525 § 2019. Reinstatement of a suspended license; removal from probationary status; replacement of license.

526 (a) As a condition to reinstatement of a suspended license, license or removal from probationary status, the Board 

527 may reinstate such a license if, after a hearing, the Board is satisfied that the licensee has taken the prescribed corrective 

528 actions and otherwise satisfied all of the conditions of the suspension and/or the or probation.

529 (b) Applicants An applicant for reinstatement shall pay the appropriate fees and submit documentation required 

530 by the Board as evidence that all the conditions of a suspension and/or or probation have been met. Proof The Board may 

531 also require that the applicant has met meet the continuing education requirements of this chapter may also be required, as 

532 appropriate.

533 (c) A new license to replace any a license lost, destroyed destroyed, or mutilated may be issued subject to the 

534 rules of the Board. A charge shall be made for such issuance. Board, and upon payment of a fee to issue a replacement 

535 license.

536 Section 20. Amend § 2020, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

537 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

538 § 2020. Penalty Penalties.

539 (a) A person not currently licensed under this chapter as an occupational therapist or occupational therapy assistant 

540 when guilty of engaging in the practice of occupational therapy, or using in connection with that person's name, or 

541 otherwise assuming or using any title or description conveying, or tending to convey the impression that the person is 

542 qualified to practice occupational therapy, such offender shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. It is unlawful for a person who is 

543 not licensed under this chapter to to any of the following: 

544 (1) Engage in the practice of occupational therapy.

545 (2) Use in connection with that person’s name or otherwise assume or use any title or description that conveys 

546 or tends to convey the impression that the person is qualified to practice occupational therapy. 

547 (b) Upon the first offense, that person shall be fined not less than $500 nor more than $1,000 for each offense. For 

548 a second or subsequent conviction, the fine shall be not less than $1,000 nor more than $2,000 for each offense. A person 

549 who violates subsection (a) of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to the following penalties:

550 (1) For the first offense, a fine of not less than $500 nor more than $1,000 for each offense.

551 (2) For each subsequent offense, a fine of not less than $1,000 nor more than $2,000 for each offense.

552 (c) Superior Court shall have has jurisdiction over all violations of this chapter.

553 Section 21. Amend § 2021, Title 24 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and 

554 insertions as shown by underline as follows:
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555 § 2021. Treatment or examination of minors.

556 (a) As used in this section:

557 (1) "Adult staff member" means an individual who is 18 years or older and is acting under the direction of the 

558 licensee, the licensee’s employer, or is otherwise licensed under this chapter.

559 (2) “Evaluation or treatment” includes dressing, bathing, or toileting that exposes a minor patient’s breast, 

560 genitalia, or rectum.

561 (3) "Minor" means an individual who is 15 years or younger.

562 (4) “Services” includes inpatient, outpatient, home, or school treatment.

563 (b) A minor patient’s parent, guardian guardian, or other caretaker, or an adult staff member, shall must be present 

564 when a person licensed to practice occupational therapy under this chapter licensee provides services, including inpatient, 

565 outpatient, home or school treatment, services to a minor patient who is disrobed or partially disrobed during evaluation or 

566 treatment involving, but not limited to, dressing, bathing, or toileting, that exposes the breasts, genitalia or rectum. 

567 (c) When using If an adult staff member to observe observes the evaluation or treatment, the adult staff member 

568 shall must be of the same gender as the patient when practicable. 

569 (d) The minor patient may decline the presence of a third person only with consent of a parent, guardian or other 

570 caretaker. The minor patient may request private consultation with the person licensed to practice occupational therapy 

571 without the presence of a third person individual providing consent to the minor patient’s treatment and only after the initial 

572 evaluation.

573 (b) When a minor patient's evaluation or treatment involves the female breasts, or female or male genitalia or 

574 rectum, a person licensed to practice occupational therapy under this chapter licensee shall provide notice to the person the 

575 individual providing consent to the minor patient’s treatment with notice of the rights under this section. The notice shall 

576 must be provided in written form or be conspicuously posted in a manner in which a minor patients and their patient and the 

577 parent, guardian or other caretaker individual providing consent to the minor patient’s treatment are made aware of the 

578 notice. In circumstances in which the posting or the provision of the written notice would may not convey the right to have 

579 a chaperone third person present, the person licensed to practice occupational therapy licensee shall use another means to 

580 ensure that the person understands the right minor patient and the individual providing consent to the minor patient’s 

581 treatment understand the rights under this section.

582 (c) For the purposes of this section, "minor" is defined as a person 15 years of age or younger, "adult staff 

583 member" is defined as a person 18 years of age or older who is acting under the direction of the licensed person or the 

584 employer of the licensed person or who is otherwise licensed under this chapter.
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585 (d) The person licensed under this chapter A licensee that provides treatment to a minor patient pursuant to under 

586 this section shall, contemporaneously with such the treatment, note in the child's minor patient’s record the name of each 

587 person present when such the treatment is being provided.
SYNOPSIS

This Act fulfills recommendations made by the Joint Legislative Overview and Sunset Committee by making 
amendments to the statute governing the Board of Occupational Therapy Practice to make Chapter 20 of Title 24 consistent 
with other Title 24 boards and delete antiquated sections that are no longer applicable, including:

- Adding the duty to report conduct that constitutes grounds for discipline or inability to practice.
- Removing "censure a practitioner" as an available sanction.
- Removing references to temporary licenses, because the temporary license section of the statute was repealed
in 2005.
- Removing § 2015(c) and § 2017(c) because they are covered under the Administrative Procedures Act.
- Revising the reciprocity language to address situations where a licensee holds a current license in a state that is
no substantially similar to Delaware.

In addition, this Act includes several amendments to conform existing law to the standards of the Delaware 
Legislative Drafting Manual, including deleting unnecessary words, correcting grammatical errors, and improving 
consistency and clarity.


